FILED

SID J. WHITE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 22 1995

EARL L. CRAMER,)	CLERK, SUPPLEME GOVI ByChief Depthy Clerk
Petitioner)))	CASE NO. 86,709
V. BROEDELL PLUMBING SUPPLY, ET AL,)	District Court of Appeal, First District No. 95-1588
Respondents.)))	

APPEAL FROM THE COMPENSATION ORDER
DATED APRIL 24, 1995
BY THE HONORABLE JOSEPH E. WILLIS
JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS
and
APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER EARL L . CRAMER

LANCASTER AND EURE, P.A. Post Office Drawer 4257 Sarasota, FL 34230 (941) 365-7575

CLAIRE HAMNER MATTURRO 869 Lee Road Cairo, GA 31728 (904) 644-4095 (912) 872-3553

Attorneys for Petitioner EARL L. CRAMER

PREFACE

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(s)(A)(v) and pursuant to the Florida Constitute, Article V, Section 3.

QUESTION ON APPEAL

The Question on Appeal as phrased by the First District Court of Appeal is:

WHETHER SECTION 440.15(3)(b)4.d. FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), IS SUBJECT TO AND COMPORTS WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF TITLE I OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT?

Standard of Review

As this appeal presents primarily issues of pure law, this Court's standard of review is de novo. See Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, Inc., 626 So. 2d 664, 670 (Fla. 1993)(recognizing issues of "purely legal matters" are subject to de novo review), affirmed in part, reversed in part (on other grounds), sub nom. Madsen v. Women's Health Center, Inc., _______ U.s. ___, 114 S.Ct. 2516, 129 L.Ed.2d 593 (1994).

Further, as this **case** comes before this Court upon a dismissal of Petitioner's claim before the judge of compensation claims, any factual disputes must be resolved in favor of Petitioner at this juncture. See, e.g., Hishon v. King & Spalding, 467 U.S. 69, 104 S.Ct. 2229, 81 L.Ed. 2d 59 (1984).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Petitioner/Claimant, Earl L. Cramer (hereafter Petitioner), who suffered a compensable injury in the scope af his employment, was initially antitled to seventy-eight (78) weeks of wage loss benefits under the terms of section 440.15 (3)(b), Florida Statute. (App. 1, p. 1). Petitioner asserted he was entitled to wage loss and disability benefits and eligibility for benefits exceeding the 78 week award provided for in section 440.15. (Id.)

In keeping with that assertion, Petitioner, on or about August 31, 1994, filed a Request for Assistance seeking wage loss benefits greater than the amount payable under section 440.15 on the grounds that the payment of wage loss benefits based strictly upon impairment classifications under the relevant statute was unconstitutional and in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). (R. 1; App. 1, p. 1-2)

When the Employee Assistance Office failed to respond to this Request, and more than thirty (30) days had elapsed, Petitioner filed a Petition/Claim for Benefits. (P. 1, 2; App. 1, p. 1) The Employer/Carrier (hereafter Respondents) controverted and denied the claim. (App. 1, p. 2). By the terms of the Docketing Order dated October 18, 1994, the matter was referred to the judge of compensation claims for further review and consideration. (D. 1)

The matter came before Judge of Compensation Claim Joseph Willis on Respondents' Motion to Dismiss the Request for Assistance and the Claim for Benefits. (App. 1, p. 1) Petitioner asserted that the payment to him of only 78 weeks of benefits in

accordance the impairment schedule set forth in section 440.15 violated his rights under the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12112 et **seq** (P. 2; App. 1, p. 1-3). He further asserted that limiting payment of wage loss to 78 weeks violated his rights under the state and federal constitutions. (*Id.*)

Respondents claimed it had not violated Petitioner's rights under the ADA or under the state os federal constitutions.

Further, Responäents argued the judge of compensation claims lacked jurisdiction to resolved the issues. (Id.)

After hearing argument of counsel, the Honorable Joseph E. Willis, Judge af Compensation Claims for the Florida Department of Labor and Employment Security, entered a detailed Final Order, found at Appendix I to this brief. The judge found in the order that the parties had agreed Petitioner was a "qualified individual under Title I of the ADA." (App. 1, p.2, n. 2) Judge Willis also found that:

Their [disabled and impaired workers] entitlement to disability benefits is a condition of their employment required by law and is limited, segregated and classified based upon numerical impairment ratings. While there may be some instances where disabled workers are entitled to or eligible for the **same** benefits, clearly the eligibility for these benefits in Florida is based strictly on an impairment rating after July, 1990.

The plan for the 1990 and 1993 Workers' Compensation laws was to "schedule" all injuries based upon impairment.
...In scheduled benefits, the basic theory remains the same; the only difference is that the effect on earning capacity is a conclusively presumed one, baseä on observed probabilities in many cases, instead of a specifically proven one based on the individual's actual wage loss experience.

With all of this being said, I must find that it is not within my province to rule upon any of these issues as a non-constitutional judge of compensation claims:

I feel that a swift determination of these issues is necessary to the proper administration of justice, for the benefit not only of this court, but before the circuit courts, federal courts and other courts in this state, who will be hearing the same issues. If swift action is not taken, I fear that the courts will become virtually bogged down with hearings,...

(App. 1, p. 7,9,10)

Accordingly, Judge Willis dismissed Petitioner's claim. (Id. at 10).

Petitioner, in a timely manner, appealed the dismissal to the First District Court of Appeal. The First District, on October 5, 1995, affirmed the dismissal of Petitioner's claim and certified the same question as certified in Barry v. Burdines,

____ So. 2d ____, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1923 (Fla. 1st DCA August 23, 1995).

INTRODUCTION TO LEGAL ARGUMENT

Petitioner asserts Respondents have violated Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) by discriminating against him in the "terms, conditions and privileges" of his employment by using methods of administration and "limiting, segregating and classifying him in a way that "adversely affected" his status because of his disability. See 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a) & (b)(1). Further, Petitioner asserts that Respondents violated section 12112(b)(2) of the ADA by "participating in a contractual arrangement...that has the effect of subjecting a covered entity's qualified applicant or employee with a disability to the discrimination prohibited by this subchapter. " See 42 U.S.C. § 12112 (b)(2). Use of discriminatory "qualification standards" are also precluded under section 12112 (b)(6) -- Respondents run afoul of this provision too. Further, Respondents may also have violated section 12181(7)(F) and Title III by discriminating agaknst him with regard to workers' compensation insurance. These are legal issues according this Court de novo review.

The ADA protects Petitioner from such discriminatory actions as Petitioner is disabled within the meaning of the ADA; he is a "qualified individual" within the meaning of the ADA and was an "employee" at the time his claim under the ADA first arose. These are factual issues which this Court must resolve in favor of Petitioner at this junctuse of the case as the appeal comes before this Court upon dismissal of Petitioner's claims below.

Petitioner is a member of a protected class. As a disabled

individual under the ADA, he is--constitutionally speaking--within at least a "quasi-suspect" class which triggers a heightened scrunity standard of analysis. Hence, in reviewing this appeal, this Court should apply a heightened scrutiny in determining if Petitioner--who was denied the chance to present any factual evidence on his continuing need for wage loss benefits--was accorded his fundamental constitutional rights.

See Martin v. Voinovich, 840 F. Supp. 1175, 1209-10 (S.D. Ohio 1993)(finding 42 U.S.C. § 12101(a)(7)'s discriptian of the disabled as a "discrete and insular minority...subject to a history of unequal treatment" created "at least" a quasi-suspect class subject to an "intermediate heightend scrunity).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Under the ADA, classifications which create disparate impacts among the disabled are unlawful. Under the ADA, denying a disabled person rights without a factual determination is unlawful. Yet Petitioner was denied his claim for further wage loss benefits due to a discriminatory classification which denied him an opportunity for a factual determination of his claim.

To dodge the repercussions of this conflict, the First District in a prior, related case found that workers' compensation benefits are not within the scope of the ADA. Yet the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission--the very agency charged by Congress with implementing the ADA--stated with impeccable clarity: "ADA requirements supersede any conflicting

State workers' compensation law." See Americans with Disabilities

Act of 1990: EEOC Technical Assistance Manual and Resource

Directory § 9.6.b. (EEOC 1992). Further, the ADA states that

state laws which provide equal or greater protection are not

preempted by the ADA; conversely, those state laws which do

conflict with the ADA are superseded by the ADA. The Florida wage

loss statute challenged here conflicts with the terms, the

intent, and the spirit of the ADA and does not provide "equal or

greater protection" than the ADA. Simply put, under the ADA,

Petitioner could not be denied a factual determination of his

claim based upon a classification which creates a disparate

impact among the disabled; he could not be conclusively presumed

ineligible for further benefits due to a classification system

based upon presumptions.

This very Court has twice recognized that workers' compensation benefits are "fringe benefits." The ADA applies to employee "fringe benefits." Thus, the precedent of this Court, when viewed in light of the ADA, requires a finding that workers' compensation laws are within the purview of the ADA.

Florida provides wage loss benefits in a disparate manner according to a rigid statutory classification system--the classifications are based upon the claimant's impairment ratings. Because of Petitioner's classification under subsection (III), his wage loss benefits were terminated at 78 weeks without regard to any actual factual findings that this was appropriate. Had Petitioner's classification fallen under a different subsection, he would have received different benefits. § 440.15(3)(b)4.d.

(111-V), Fla. Stat. (1991). Hence, Florida uses classifications which "adversely affect" the benefits provided Petitioner. The ADA, again with impeccable clarity, states: Using standards, criteria or methods of administration that have the effect of discrimination on the basis of disability is unlawful under the ADA; classifying an employee in a manner which adversely affects the opportunities or status of the employee is unlawful discrimination under the ADA. 42 U.S.C. § 12112(b)(3)(A)-(B). Instead of the discriminatory classifications an individual, factual determination is required under the ADA. Petitioner was denied this factual determination.

Discrimination among of against a class of the disabled as well as discrimination against all disabled persons are both unlawful under the ADA. The terms of the ADA, its legislative history and the EEOC actions and edicts all establish that discrimination amongthe disabled is unlawful under the ADA. E.g., Helen L. v. DiDario, 46 F.3d 325, 335-339 (3d Cir. 1995)(holding discrimination among the disabled is just as unlawful under the ADA as a blanket discrimination against all the disabled). The EEOC's vigorous pursuit of cases involving discrimination among the disabled in terms of health insurance also show discrimination amongthe disabled is unlawful under the ADA--contrary to Respondents' view discrimination among the disabled is somehow acceptable under the ADA.

Accordingly, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to find that Florida's workers' compensation wage loss scheme is superseded by the ADA and to reinstate his claim.

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 440.15(3)(b)4.d., FLORIDA STATTUTES (1991), IS SUBJECT TO AND SUPERSEDED BY THE REQUIREMENTS OF TITLE I OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) BECAUSE IT USES DISCRIMINATORY CLASSIFICATIONS IN CONFLICT WITH THE DIRECTIVES OF THE ADA.

The Certified Question raised by the First District is closely akin to a preemption question -- whether section 440.15(3)(b)4.d., Florida Statutes (1991), which limits wage loss compensation to employees according to fixed statutory classifications, is within the control of the Americans with Disability Act (ADA), which prohibits discrimination against disabled employees in their "compensation," and "other terms, conditions, and privileges of employment, "including "fringe benefits." The Equal Employment Opportunity Commission -- the very agency charged by Congress with the responsibility of implementing the ADA--proclaimed specifically that the ADA supersedes any conflicting state workers' compensation laws. Further, the ADA, both in its very terms and in its legislative history, established a Congressional intent that the ADA supersede any conflicting state law. The ADA precludes discriminatory classifications based upon disability; its legislative history repeatedly stressed the need for individual, case by case, factual determinations as well as condemned discrimination among persons of the same class. Yet, Petitioner's wage loss was terminated at 78 weeks due to a classification based upon his impairment rating; if he had been labeled with a different impairment, he would have been classified differently and received different benefits. As such, Florida's wage loss

scheme is superseded by the ADA for the most basic reason:

Florida's statutory scheme provides wage loss benefits in a

disparate manner according to a rigid classification--not an

individual factual determination--and therefore discriminates

among and against disabled workers in conflict with the ADA.

- A. Section 440.15(3)(b)4.d., Florida Statutes (1991), is subject to the control of the ADA because the stated Congressional intent is that the federal law control over conflicting state law; further, the EEOC has recognized conflicting state workers' compensation laws are superseded by the ADA.
 - (i) Florida's workers' compensation wage loss scheme is preempted by the ADA as Congress explicitly stated its intent for federal law to control and, implicitly, the wage loss scheme stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment of the full purpose of the ADA.

When Congress enacted the comprehensive ADA, one of its stated goals was to "ensure that the Federal Government plays a central role in enforcing the standards established in this Act on behalf of individuals with disabilities." 42 U.S.C. § 12101 (b)(3); See also House Report No. 101-485(II) 1, 22-23, 101st Cong. 2d Sess.; reprinted in 1990 U.S. Cong. and Admin, N. 394 (hereafter House Report No. 101-485(II)) This Congressional emphasis on federal enforcement came after a Congressional finding that: "State laws are inadequate to address the pervasive problems of discrimination that people with disabilities are facing." House Report No. 101-485(II) at 47. See also id., at 29 (finding, after hearing testimony and reviewing reports, that state laws were inadequate to protect the disabled).

In determining whether a federal law controls over a state law, Congressional intent is the key factor. See generally, e.g.,

Adams Fruit Co. v. Barrett, 494 U.S. 638, 642, 110 S.Ct. 1384, 1387, 108 L.Ed.2d 585 (1990)(holding that whether a federal statute preempts a state law "turns on the language of the statute and, where the language is not dîspositive, on the intent of Congress as revealed in the history and purposes of the statutory scheme" and holding the exclusive remedy provision of the state workers' compensation law was preempted under the federal Migrant and Seasonal Agricultural Workers' Protection Act); Wood v. County of Alameda, 875 F.Supp. 659 (N.D.Cal. 1995)(discussing role of Congressional intent in holding the exclusive remedy provision of California's workers' compensation law is preempted by the ADA). Thus, given the ADA's statement that the federal government, not the state, should enforce standards on behalf of the disabled, the presumption must be that the ADA controls over Florida's Workers' Compensation law.

While not a traditional preemption question, this certified question nonetheless triggers essentially the same analysis as a preemption question. See *Wood v. County* of Alameda, 875 F.Supp. at 661. The preemption doctrine is rooted in the Supremeacy Clause (Article VI of the U.S. Constitution), which invalidates state laws that "interfere with, or are contrary to to, the laws of Congress." *Gibbons v. Ogden, 22 U.S. (9 Wheat.)* 1, 211, 6 L.Ed. 2d 23 (1824) A state law is preempted "to the extent it actually conflicts with federal law..., or where the state law stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment of the full purposes and objectives of Congress." *Silkwood v. Kerr-McGee Corp.,* 464 U.S. 238, 248, 104 S.Ct. 615, 621, 78 L.Ed.2d 443 (1984).

Preemption may be found either upon an explicit statement by Congress or through an implicit finding that compliance with both federal and state laaws is a physical impossibility. Calfiornia Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n v. Querra, 479 U.S. 272, 280-81, 93 L.Ed. 2d 613, 107 S.Ct. 683 (1987). The ADA explicitly preempts only conflicting state law. 42 U.S.C. § 12201(b); See also House Report No. 101-485(II), supra, at 1, 22-3, 29, 47. As further discussed under section B, Florida's wage loss formula is conflicting with the ADA. For example, Florida's wage loss scheme uses arbitrary classifications which terminated Petitioner's wage loss compensation at 78 weeks solely because of the fixed statutory classification of Petitioner. Yet the ADA forbids discriminatory classifications based upon disability and mandates instead individual, factual, determinations. Further, Florida's scheme discriminates against and among classes of the disabled in contradiction of the ADA's legislative intent and history. Thus, given this conflict, the ADA explicitly preempts Florida's workers' compensation wage loss scheme.

Further, under the Silkwoad analysis, Florida's wage loss scheme surely "stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment of the full purpose and objectives" of the ADA, id., 464 U.S. at 248, as the ADA seeks to end discriminatory classifications and to end discrimination amongthe classes of the disabled. The ADA implicitly preempts the wage loss scheme at issue as it would be a "physical impossibility" to apply the discriminatory classifications in section 440.15, Florida Statutes and still honor the ADA's prohibition against discriminatory

classifications. This Court should find both an expicit preemption and an implicit preemption by the ADA of the challenged wage loss scheme.

In *Wood*, the federal district court, when faced with an analogous question to the one raised in this appeal, wrote:

In light of the clear and numerous indications that the express purpose of the enactment of the ADA was to guarantee individuals with disabilities a baseline of protection through the establishment and enforcement of federal standards, defendant fights a very difficult uphill battle in claiming that Congress intended the ADA to "defer" to state [workers' compensation] statutes in any manner whatsoever. (original emphasis)

Wood v. County of Alameda, 875 F.Supp. at 663. Ultimately, the Wood Court held that the exclusive remedy provision of the California workers' compensation law was superseded by the ADA. "(T)he Court finds that Congress did not intend the ADA to defer to the California workers' compensation law at issue here. ... Where such (state) provisions are incompatible with the federal statute, they must be denied effect." Id. at 664. As shown below under section B, the relevant law challenged here is "incompatible" with the ADA and, therefore, under the Wood analysis "must be denied effect."

(ii) Both the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission (EEOC) and the prevailing view
among legal scholars recognize conflicting
workers' compensation statutes are superseded
by the ADA and that workers' compensation benefits
are a "term" of employment and a "fringe"
benefit subject to the ADA

Just as this Court should defer to the Congressional intent, this Court should also defer to the views of the enforcing federal agency that workers' compensation is within the control

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