DEC 11 1995

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK

Petitioner: EARL L. CRAMER

VS.

APPEAL NO. 86,709 FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL NO. 95-1588

Respondents: FLORIDA EMPLOYERS

INSURANCE SERVICE CORPORATION

and

BROEDELL PLUMBING SUPPLY

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS FLORIDA EMPLOYERS INSURANCE SERVICE CORPORATION AND **BROEDELL PLUMBING SUPPLY**

ON APPEAL FROM:

FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

James G. Trope, Esquire Elizabeth J. Muller, Esquire Attorneys for Respondents 2601 Cattlemen Road Sarasota, FL 34232-6249 Florida Employers Insurance Service Corporation **Broedell Plumbing Supply**

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

<u>Cramer</u> at 1553.

The Cramer court did not rely on O'Neil in its holding, however it is clear that the Florida Workers' Compensation Statute does not violate the ADA. This result is reached whether the Court uses the reasoning in O'Neil that workers' compensation is not a "term,

condition or privilege of employment" under Title I of the ADA or under the <u>Traynor</u> analysis which states Workers' Compensation Statute 440.15 does not violate the ADA because it does not discriminate between disabled persons and non-disabled persons. Therefore, Respondents ask the Court to uphold the reasoning in <u>Traynor</u>, <u>Barry</u> and <u>Cramer</u>.

III. FLORIDA'S WORKERS' COMPENSATION STATUTE IS NOT PREEMPTED BY THE ADA.

Petitioner raised the issue of federal scrutiny of state workers' compensation laws based on the ADA. The essence of Petitioner's position is that various provisions of Florida workers' compensation law (to wit: Section 440.15(3), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990); and Section 44015(3), Florida Statutes (1993)) are "preempted" by or in conflict with the ADA. As noted by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals:

The laws of the United States are the supreme law of the land, any state constitution of law notwithstanding. U.S. Constitution, Article VI, CI. 2. Thus, state law may not override or interfere with Federal laws. That is the core premise of preemption doctrine. On the other hand, "(i)n the interest of avoiding unintended encroachment on the authority of the States, . . . a court interpreting a Federal statute pertaining to a subject traditionally governed by state law will be reluctant to find preemption. Thus, preemption will not lie unless it is 'the clear and manifest purpose of Congress.' " (Emphasis added.)

Myrick v. Freuhauf Corp., 13 F.3d 1516, 1519 (11th Cir. 1994), rehearing en banc denied, 24 F.3d 256.

In Myrick, the Court further noted that:

". . . the Supreme Court has instructed us that state law is preempted by Federal law in three circumstances:

First, Congress can define explicitly the extent to which its enactments preempt state law. . .

Second, in the absence of explicit statutory language, state law is preempted where it regulates conduct in a field that Congress intended the Federal Government to copy extensively. Such an intent may be inferred from a "scheme of Federal regulation . . . so pervasive as to make reasonable the inference that Congress left no room for States to supplement it" . . . Finally, state law is preempted to the extent that it actually conflicts with Federal law. Thus, the Court has found preemption where it is impossible for a private party to comply with both state and Federal requirements." (Citations omitted)

Myrick, 13 F.3d, at 1519.

In the instant case, Petitioner argues that the third test for preemption is present and that the challenged statutes conflict with the ADA. The specified provisions of Chapter 440, Florida Statutes, and the referenced provisions of the ADA do not conflict. Rather, the two statutory schemes are designed to effect two very different ends.

The ADA is designed to eliminate discrimination in employment, based on a disability, when the applicant or employee is "otherwise qualified." Title 42 U.S.C. Section 12112. In contrast, the permanent partial impairment provisions of the Florida workers' compensation law are designed to provide a method for compensating injured workers, who, because of their impairment, are unable to work at the same job and earn the same wages after their injuries. See Chapter 440, Florida Statute. Like the Appellants in the instant case, the injured workers that are provided benefits under the workers' compensation law are generally no longer qualified or able to perform the same tasks which they performed prior to their on-the-job injury. Workers' compensation laws are designed to provide wage loss and medical benefits to injured workers who may, in some instances, be disabled, as well.

Petitioner argues in his Brief that Congress intended for the ADA to be a minimum "base line" for all other state or federal laws. He argues further that the Florida workers' compensation statute falls below the "base line" and is therefore preempted by the ADA. The fallacy of this argument is that Title I of the ADA applies to discrimination against disabled persons in employment opportunities and does not apply to differential benefits provided to disabled persons in a non-work setting.

Petitioner states that ADA requirements supersede any conflicting state workers' compensation laws. This statement is contained at Page IX-6, Section 9.6(b) of the EEOC promulgated <u>Americans with Disabilities Act. A Technical Assistance Manual on the Employment Provisions (Title I)</u>. However a reading of the full text of Section 9.6 reveals the true intent of this section.

9.6 Compliance with State and Federal Workers' Compensation Laws

- a. Federal Laws
 - It may be a defense to a charge of discrimination under the ADA that a challenged action is required by another Federal law or regulation, or that another Federal law prohibits an action that otherwise would be required by the ADA. This defense is not valid, however, if the Federal standard does not require the discriminatory action, or if there is a way that an employer can comply with both legal requirements.
- State Laws
 ADA requirements supersede any conflicting state workers' compensation laws.

For example: Some state workers' compensation statutes make an employer liable for paying additional benefits if an injury occurs because the employer assigned a person to a position likely to jeopardize the person's health or safety, or exacerbate an earlier workers' compensation injury. Some of these laws may permit or require an employer to exclude a disabled individual from employment in cases where the ADA

takes precedence over the state law. An employer could not assert, as a valid defense to a charge of discrimination, that it failed to hire or return to work an individual with a disability because doing so would violate a state workers' compensation law that required exclusion of this individual.

From the foregoing example contained in 9.6b above, it is obvious that these limitations by way of example demonstrate that the intent of Title I is to apply only to workplace situations wherein a disabled but otherwise qualified person might suffer discrimination on the job. Title I does not apply to a differential in post-injury benefits among disabled persons as the Petitioners contend.

Petitioners cite Acosta v. Kraco, 471 So. 2d 24 (1985) and Sasso v. Ram, 452 So. 2d 932 (1984) as standing for the proposition that this Court recognized Workers' Compensation as a fringe benefit. Petitioners however have misconstrued these cases. A careful reading of Acosta and Sasso reveals the courts true intent. In these cases, this Court upheld the District Courts decision that Florida Statute Section 440.15 did not violate the claimant's constitutional equal protection rights as the statute was rationally related to three legitimate state interests:

- 1. To reduce fringe benefits to reflect a productivity decline with age;
- 2. To induce older workers to retire to allow younger workers to advance; and
- 3. To reduce the cost of workers' compensation premiums.

The Court in no way stated workers' compensation benefits are a fringe benefit. In fact, it is obvious the Court did not consider them to be by stating there were three separate, legitimate state objectives.

Further, Petitioners state that Workers' Compensation is within the control of the ADA as insurance under Title III citing 42 U.S.C. Sections 12181 (7)(F), 12182 (2). Section 12181 (7)(F) states:

Public Accommodation. The following private entities are considered public accommodations....if the operations of such entities affect commerce....a laundromat, dry-cleaner, bank, barber shop, beauty shop, travel service, shoe repair service, funeral parlor, gas station, office of an accountant or lawyer, pharmacy, insurance office, professional office of a health care provider, hospital or other service establishment;

However, under 42 U.S.C. 12201 (C)(1) insurance is excluded from Titles I through IV of the ADA as these titles "shall not be construed to prohibit or restrict an insurer....from underwriting risks, or administering such risks that are based on or not inconsistent with State law...". this concept is upheld in <u>Carparts Dist. Ctr. v. Automotive Wholesalers</u> 37 F. 3d 12 (1st Cir. 1994).

Further, FEISCO is not subject to Title I as it is not an employer of Cramer. As stated by the Court in <u>Carparts</u>,

If defendants had the authority to determine the level of benefits, they would be acting as an employer who exercises control over this aspect of the employment relationship. In contrast, insurance companies which merely sell a product to an employer but do not exercise control over the level of benefits provided to employees could not be deemed "employers" under this rationale.

Carparts at 16.

The Carrier, FEISCO, has no discretionary control when it provides benefits to an injured workers' compensation claimant. Rather, the benefit structure is mandated by the Florida Law at Chapter 440. A carrier may not unilaterally adjust levels of benefits. It must follow statutory scheme or face censure from the Florida Department of Labor and

Employment Security and the Florida Department of Insurance as well as from the Courts of this State.

IV. PETITIONER IS NOT A QUALIFIED INDIVIDUAL WITH A DISABILITY.

Petitioners, in their brief state Respondents stipulated that Petitioner Cramer was a "qualified individual with a disability" citing the last sentence of footnote 1, page 1 in the final order issued by Judge Willis but drafted by Petitioners. Respondents did not agree, stipulate or otherwise state that Claimant was a "qualified individual with a disability." Respondents did, however, agree Claimant was an individual with an "impairment", a nine percent impairment. Respondents acknowledged Claimant had a nine percent impairment and was therefore entitled to seventy eight weeks of wage loss which Respondents have paid to Petitioner Cramer.

Petitioners argue that the Florida Workers' Compensation Law directly translates impairment into disability and this somehow is a violation of the ADA. However, the workers' compensation law properly defines the two terms separately and uses a hybrid of the two concepts in determining wage loss.

Petitioner is confusing disability with impairment. Disability is defined as an "incapacity because of the injury to earn in the same or any other employment the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of the Injury." F.S. 440.02(11) (1990). Impairment is defined as "any anatomic or functional abnormality or loss, existing after the date of maximum medical improvement, which results from the injury." F.S. 440.02(19) (1990).

Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b) (1990) states "each injured worker who suffers a permanent impairment ... may be entitled to wage loss benefits under this subsection, provided that such permanent impairment results in a work-related physical restriction which affects such employee's ability to perform the activities of his usual or other appropriate employment."

An individual who meets the definition of disability ordinarily cannot "perform the essential functions" of his old job. He is thus not a "qualified individual with a disability" and cannot be the object of discrimination within the scope of 42 U.S.C. SS 12112. He is not employable within the goal of the ADA. Eligibility for workers' compensation benefits requires a finding of partial or complete inability to work and the benefits are designed to compensate specifically for lost ability to work. Cramer at 1550. As Cramer is seeking more wage loss benefits under the Workers' Compensation Law, he cannot be a "qualified individual with a disability" as this necessarily presumes he is unable to work.

Petitioners argue Respondents are estopped from asserting Petitioner Cramer is not a "qualified individual with a disability."

The doctrine of estoppel against inconsistent positions states "where a party to a suit has assumed an attitude on a former appeal, and has carried the case to an appellate adjudication on a particular theory asserted by the record on that appeal, he is estopped to assume in a pleading filed in a later phase of that same case, or another appeal, any other or inconsistent position toward the same parties and subject matter."

<u>Kaufman v. Lassiter</u>, 616 So. 2d 491, 493 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) citing <u>Palm Beach Co. v.</u>

<u>Palm Beach Estates</u>, 110 Fla. 77, 148 So. 544, 548 (1933).

In Respondents brief to the First District Court of Appeals, it was Respondents position that Petitioner Cramer was not a "qualified individual with a disability" within the meaning of the ADA but was an individual with a nine percent impairment. This is supported by every document ever filed by Respondent and is consistent with the Respondents position before this court today. Clearly the doctrine of estoppel against inconsistent positions is not violated.

Further, Respondents' position is supported by **Petitioner's brief** filed with the District Court at page 1, note 1 in which Petitioner states "At the hearing..., the Claimant was not permitted to present evidence that he is entitled to the protections of the Americans with Disabilities Act - i.e., to demonstrate that he is "disabled" and that he is a "qualified individual with a disability." As shown by this statement, no stipulation was ever entered into that Petitioner Cramer was a "qualified individual with a disability." At all times Respondents have maintained this position.

Although Petitioner Cramer realizes he is not a "qualified individual with a disability", he nevertheless argues that he is entitled to the protections of the ADA simply by the fact that he was an employee of Respondent Broedell Plumbing at the time his claim for wage loss first arose. Petitioner cites 42 U.S.C. SS 12112 (b)(2) which states:

Construction. As used in subsection (a), (which uses the term "qualified individual with a disability"), the term discriminate includes participating in a contractual or other arrangement or relationship that has the effect of subjecting a covered entity's qualified applicant or employee with a disability to the discrimination prohibited by this title...

In his brief Petitioner states that this legislation speaks of a "qualified applicant or employee with a disability". Petitioner believes that the word "or" signals alternative

choices of a (1) qualified applicant, or (2) employee with a disability, but not both.

Obviously, the Statute addresses discrimination against qualified applicants with a disability and qualified employees with a disability. Under Petitioners reading, an applicant could be qualified but does not need to have a disability and an employee could be disabled but not be qualified and could still be protected by the ADA. This stilted reasoning results in an absurdity. The definition under Section 101 shows that a person must be both qualified and disabled. Petitioner does not fit the definition contained in the statute and is trying unsuccessfully to bend other parts of the statute to fit him.

V. THE FLORIDA WORKERS' COMPENSATION LAW IS NOT APPLIED DISCRIMINATORILY, RATHER, IT IS APPLIED ON A CASE BY CASE BASIS.

Petitioner states that the Florida Workers' Compensation law is discriminatory because injured workers are given disability ratings and receive benefits on a scheduled basis according to that disability. Further, Petitioner argues that benefits should be determined on an individual, case by case basis. What Petitioners fail to see, however, is that individual determination is exactly what happens under the system. An injured worker's primary treating physician gives an impairment rating based on the individual injured worker's afflictions. The numerical percentage of the impairment rating then makes the injured worker eligible for a certain number of weeks of wage loss benefits. Such benefits are to be based on the injured workers actual wage loss. If the injured worker returns to an employment position and does not suffer any loss of wages, the worker is not entitled to wage loss benefits, although he is still eligible in the event his work related

restrictions cause him wage loss in the future. It is a case by case, individual, factual determination which is not in conflict with any ADA mandate.

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